FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/30/2017 4:39 PM No. 49224-5-II



IN THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, UFCW LOCAL 365, et al., Respondent/Plaintiffs,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al., Respondents/Defendants,

and

FREEDOM FOUNDATION, Petitioner/Respondent/Defendant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

David M.S. Dewhirst, WSBA #48229 Hannah S Sells, WSBA #52692 P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 p. 360.956.3482 | f. 360.352.1874 DDewhirst@freedomfoundation.com HSells@freedomfoundation.com

Attorneys for Petitioner Freedom Foundation

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Freedom Foundation ("Foundation") is a Respondent and Defendant below. The Foundation is a Washington nonprofit organization devoted to informing public employees about their legal rights regarding union membership and dues payment obligations. At issue in this case are numerous public records requests the Foundation submitted to Washington State agencies for the names, birthdates, and work email addresses of unionized public employees (not union members, but employees who work within a bargaining unit for which a union acts as an exclusive bargaining representative). The Foundation requested these records for one, sole purpose: to facilitate its educational outreach to public employees about their rights. The Foundation asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' published decision set forth in Part II.

II. DECISIONS BELOW

The Foundation seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion in *Washington Public Employees Association, et al. v. Washington State Center for Childhood Deafness and Hearing Loss, et al.* ("*WPEA*"), No. 49224-5-II (October 31, 2017) (Appendix at A:1-13), which reversed the Thurston County Superior Court's July 29, 2016 Order Denying Plaintiff Unions' Motions for Permanent Injunction (App. A:14 – A:52).

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT – 1 No. 49224-5-II

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues merit Supreme Court review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2), RAP 13.4(b)(3), and RAP 13.4(b)(4):

1. Whether a public employee may have a constitutional privacy interest in the public records disclosure of her name and birthdate when this Court has held that "an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a *public* record."

2. Whether a constitutional privacy interest under Article I §7 may be grounded in an individual's subjective privacy expectation?

3. Whether the PRA constitute an "authority of law" under Article I § 7.

4. Whether the Court of appeals violates the separation of powers by substituting its judgment for that of the legislature, which has determined that public employees' names and birthdates are disclosable and that access to this information advances the PRA's purpose.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2016, Freedom Foundation submitted Public Records Act ("PRA") requests to various state agencies for the names, birthdates, and state-issued work email address of state civil service employees in unionized bargaining units. *WPEA*, App. A:4. These employees work within bargaining units represented by unions, but they are not all union

members, and none of the information the Foundation requested would indicate whether individual employees were union members. *Id.* For over two years, "[o]ne of the Foundation's central purposes [has been] to educate public employees... about their constitutional rights to drop their membership in and payment of fees to public sector unions." *SEIU Healthcare 775NW v. DSHS, et al.*, 193 Wn. App. 377, 385–86, *review denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1016 (2016). The court below also recognized this, stating that "the Foundation's campaign is to inform eligible state employees that they have a constitutional right to opt-out of paying union

dues." App. A:4. These First Amendment rights for public civil service employees are set forth in *Abood v. Detroit Bd. of Ed.*, 431 U.S. 209 (1977), and its progeny.

For over two years, the Foundation has conducted this outreach, primarily (though not exclusively) to Individual Providers and Family Childcare providers, whose First Amendment rights regarding compulsory union fees were recently articulated in *Harris v. Quinn*, 134 S.Ct. 2618 (2014). The Foundation's educational outreach includes written, email, telephone, social media, and door-to-door communications, in various combinations. When public employees ask the Foundation to stop communicating with them, the Foundation does so. The Foundation has never and will never sell or give the public employee information it obtains through the PRA to any third party, and it will never use that information for any purpose other than its educational outreach program. After two-plus years and tens of thousands of outreach communications, no single instance of harassment, targeting, or any other misconduct has ever occurred. In this case, unions representing various public employee bargaining units brought five virtually identical lawsuits to enjoin release of the requested records pursuant to RCW 42.56.540 in Thurston County Superior Court. The agencies determined that they would disclose the requested public records absent a court order.

The cases and extensive motions practice ensued. In various combinations, the seven unions in five suits argued eight (8) "grounds for preventing grounds for preventing the disclosure of employees' names and corresponding birthdates, including that such disclosure would violate employees' right to privacy under Article I § 7 of the Washington Constitution. *WPEA*, App. A:3-4, n. 2.

On July 29, 2016, the Superior Court denied the unions' Joint Motion for Permanent Injunction. App. A-14. The Unions appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division II, which stayed the release of public employees' names and corresponding birthdates, pending appeal. The Court of Appeals consolidated the cases, received briefing and oral argument, and published an opinion on October 31, 2017 reversing the Superior Court. In so doing, the Court of Appeals erred. This Petition timely followed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Introduction & Summary of Argument

This case addresses whether the disclosure of a public employee's name and birthdate under the PRA violates the employee's right to privacy under Article I §7 of the Washington Constitution. This Court's holdings make clear that when Article I §7 applies to questions of whether an individual must disclose private information to the government, the state needs only a rational basis to compel disclosure. *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wash. 2d 103, 124, 937 P.2d 154, 167, *amended*, 943 P.2d 1358 (1997). More recently, this Court held that "an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a *public* record." *Nissen v. Pierce Cty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 883, 357 P.3d 45 (2015) (emphasis in original).

In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals held that "state employees have a constitutionally protected expectation of privacy in their full names associated with their corresponding birthdates." *WPEA*, App. A:13. This decision squarely conflicts with this Court's decision in *Nissen*. Moreover, to the extent a constitutional privacy interest can exist within a record that is already *public*, the Court of Appeals disregarded correct Article I § 7 analysis and the rational basis test set forth in *Ino Ino*. Accordingly, review by this Court is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1). For the same reason, the *WPEA* holding directly conflicts with the decision issued by the Court of Appeals only one year ago. *West v. Vermillion*, 196 Wn. App. 627, 638-639, 384 P.3d 634, 638 (2016), *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1024, 390 P.3d 339 (2017) ("The language of this [*Nissen*] holding does not limit it to only certain constitutional privacy interests nor to only those privacy interests enumerated under certain constitutional provisions. Instead, *Nissen* was clear that an individual does not have a constitutional privacy interest in public records."). Accordingly, review by this Court is appropriate under <u>RAP 13.4(b)(2)</u>.

The Court of Appeals' decision also raises a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution – whether Article I § 7 creates a broad, entirely subjective, and potentially unbounded exemption to undisputedly public records under the PRA. If allowed to stand, *WPEA* will invite opponents of government transparency to assert Article I § 7 privacy claims based on speculative, unfounded, unrealized, and unlikely harms (as the union appellants have done here) anytime they wish to withhold otherwise nonexempt public records for untoward reasons. Thus, *WPEA*'s unprecedented and withering application of Article I § 7 to the state's most robust democratic safeguard, the PRA, makes review by this Court appropriate under both <u>RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).</u>

Finally, WPEA's misapplication of Article I § 7 substituted the court's

judgment for that of the legislature, which is empowered to craft exceptions to the PRA, and thus violated the separation of powers. For this reason too, review by this Court is appropriate under both <u>RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)</u>.

B. The Decision below

In *WPEA*, the Court of Appeals decided that public employee names and birthdates were not disclosable under the PRA because such disclosure would violate the privacy rights of the public employees under Article I, §7. First, the court held that Article I §7 could prohibit production of public records to a requestor. *WPEA*, App. A:7.¹ Next, the court engaged in a twostep analysis to determine whether names and birthdates fell within the protection of Article I §7. This analysis originates from *State v. Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d 515, 192 P.3d 360 (2008) which addressed the search of a citizen – not the government's production of its records. *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d 515 at 522. To determine whether a privacy interest exists in particular information, *Puapuaga* requires courts to first look whether or not the asserted privacy interest is historically recognized. *Id*. Then, if the history is unclear, a court may look to whether the expectation of privacy is one that a citizen of this state is entitled to hold. *Id*. Here, the lower court created

¹ The PRA states that public records can be withheld from production if they fall within any "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.070(1). Although here, the court may have ruled that Article I § 7 supersedes the PRA. WPEA, App. A:7.

a new standard in which <u>either</u> historical treatment <u>or</u> a reasonable expectation of privacy can create a constitutional privacy interest under Article I §7. *WPEA*, App. A:7. Using this newly created standard, the lower court determined that public employees had a reasonable expectation of privacy in their names and birthdates *because of additional information that might be identified and potential abuses that might ensue as a result*. *WPEA*, App. A:8-9. *Puapuaga* next directs courts determine whether the intrusion into that privacy is justified by valid law. App. *WPEA*, A:10. The court held that production of names and birthdates in response to a public records request was not justified by valid law because, while the PRA provided permission, it does not provide "justification" as required by Article I §7. *WPEA*, App. A:10.

C. The Court of Appeals' holding directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Nissen*.

The Court of Appeals' holding that public employees can have a privacy interest in a public record directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883. *WPEA*, App. A:9. In *Nissen*, the court held that "an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a public record [.]" *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883 (citing *Nixon v. Adm'r of Gen. Servs.*, 433 U.S. 425, 457 (1977)).

Just like this case, Nissen concerned a request for public records. Nissen,

163 Wn.2d at 882-883. There, the public records sought were created and stored on a public employee's personal cell phone. *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 896-70. Obviously comingled with these public records were purely personal text messages and other purely personal information. *Id.* In distinguishing between purely personal information and public records both housed on a nongovernmental device, the Court rejected Pierce County's argument that all the employee's text messages (including public records) were nondisclosable due to Article I § 7's right to privacy. *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883, n. 9. To that effect, the county tried to force the Court into a false, all-or-nothing choice, treating all the texts on the employee's phone equally, and thus exempting public records housed on that device from disclosure under the PRA. The county argued that:

The only way a court could conclude that the [employee's] private communications device records ... were not exempt would be to conclude ... that public employees have no constitutional protections with regard to their private communications devices under the Fourth Amendment or article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution[.]

Pierce County's Supplemental Brief at 11, *Nissen v. Pierce Cty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 883, WL 1871717 (Wn). Instead, this Court wisely treated the public records on the employee's phone differently from the purely personal information on that device:

The County and Lindquist suggest that various provisions of the state and federal constitutions categorically prohibit a public employer from obtaining public records related to private cell phone use without consent. *Because an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a public record*, Lindquist's challenge is necessarily grounded in the constitutional rights he has in personal information comingled with those public records.

Nissen, 183 Wn.2d at 883 (emphasis added). Any *constitutional* privacy interest ends at the point at which information becomes a public record. In this case, no one disputes that the public employee names and birthdates requested are public records within the possession of the government. Thus, *Nissen* settles the matter: "an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a public record." *Id.* The Superior Court correctly understood this. App. A:21 The Court of Appeals adopted and expanded upon the very Pierce County argument this Court rejected in *Nissen*.

The WPEA court labeled Nissen's constitutional holding mere dicta, App. A:9, but it has not done so previously. See West v. Vermillion, 196 Wn. App. at 637-39 (referring repeatedly to Nissen's "no constitutional privacy interest in a *public* record" as a holding with binding effect). In West, a city council member resisted disclosure of public records contained in his personal email account. Division II held that "Nissen was clear that an individual does not have a constitutional privacy interest in public records." Division II then ordered the council member to disclose the emails sought. West, 196 Wn. App. at 638, 642. Here, the Court of Appeals made new law, that directly conflicts with this Court's holding in Nissen and the \bigcirc

Court of Appeal's previous decision in West.

D. The Court of Appeals' holding that a public employee is entitled to hold an expectation of privacy in her name and birthdate is based on a misapplication of this Court's decisions in *Puapuaga* and *Ino Ino*.

After setting aside binding precedent, *West* and *Nissen*, the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's Article I § 7 analysis set forth in *Puapuaga*. Then, even if a discernable constitutional privacy interest in names and birthdates could be found, the lower court should have justified any intrusion upon that interest under the rational basis test in *Ino Ino*. The Court of Appeals did not, and compounded its error. *WPEA*, App. A:7-9.

Division II should never have reached *Puapuaga* because this Court has already defined the appropriate standard for questions of confidentiality under Article I §7. In *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn. 2d at 124, this Court held that when evaluating the constitutional rights to confidentiality², "the state constitution offers no greater protection than the

²There have been very few cases applying Article I §7 outside the search and seizure context, but even the cases addressing an individual's "interest in avoiding disclosure of intimate personal matters" are confined to avoiding disclosure of personal matters *to the government*. In fact, "The few decisions applying article 1, section 7 outside the search and seizure context have attributed to the provision no broader scope than federal constitutional privacy law." *Bedford v. Sugarman*, 112 Wn. 2d 500, 506, 772 P.2d 486, 489 (1989); *See also State v. Maxon*, 110 Wn.2d 564, 571, 756 P.2d 1297 (1988) (holding that Article I, §7 did not create a parental communications evidentiary privilege); *Peninsula Counseling Ctr. v. Rahm*, 105 Wn.2d 929, 936–37, 719 P.2d 926 (1986)(holding that requiring mental health facilities to disclose the names and diagnoses of patients receiving federal funds to the federal government was not a violation of Article I, §7).

federal constitution, which requires only application of a **rational basis test**." Wn. (emphasis added). The *WPEA* court completely ignored this standard, as discussed below.

Instead of applying Ino Ino, the Court of Appeals turned to this Court's decision in Puapuaga, 164 Wn.2d 515. Not only is Puapuaga inapplicable because it is a case involving a government search of an individual, the Court of Appeals fundamentally misapplied its test. The court stated that: "Private affairs are determined by considering either (1) the historical treatment of the interest asserted, or (2) whether the expectation of privacy is one that a citizen of this State is entitled to hold." WPEA, App. A:7 (internal citations omitted and emphasis added). For support, Division II cited SEIU Local 925 v. Freedom Foundation, ("SEIU 925") 197 Wn. App 203, 389 P.3d 641 (2016). This is not the standard, as Puapuaga makes clear. SEIU 925 bears this out, as it relied exclusively on the historical treatment of the information at issue to conclude that the records sought (quasi-public employees' names and contact information) were not protected under Article I §7. SEIU 925, 197 Wn. App at 223-26. The court explicitly rejected several arguments by the objector that concentrated solely on an individual's expectation of privacy. Id. SEIU 925 does not support the decision below and, in fact, militates against it.

SEIU 925 supportively cited Puapuaga, 164 Wn.2d at 522, which also

treated historical evidence of a privacy interest as conclusive when determining the viability of a privacy interest. *SEIU 925*, 197 Wn. App at 222. This judicial trend makes sense, as an expectation of privacy that is not rooted in historic recognition is likely subjective. Subjective expectations of privacy are insufficient under Article I § 7 and the Fourth Amendment. *See, e.g., Katz v. United States*,³ 389 U.S. 347, 361, 88 S. Ct. 507, 516 (1967); *United States v. Heckenkamp*, 482 F.3d 1142 (9th Cir. 2007); *United States v. Runyan*, 275 F.3d 449 (5th Cir. 2001); *United States v. Slanina*, 283 F.3d 670 (5th Cir. 2002); *Trulock v. Freeh*, 275 F.3d 391, 403 (4th Cir.2001).

Puapuaga explcitily states: "If history does not show whether the interest is one entitled to protection under article I, section 7, we **then** ask whether the expectation is one that a citizen of this state is entitled to hold." *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn. 2d at 522; *see also State v. Surge*, 160 Wn.2d 65, 72, 156 P.3d 208 (2007). *Puapuaga* treats the "privacy expectation" inquiry as a backup, utilized only if the historical treatment is unclear.⁴ That's why, in

³ Although the cases quoted here refer to Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, they are the most apt. The Court of Appeals standard is based on a search and seizure standard, as this Court demonstrated in *Bedford*, supra. The confusion in knowing which standard to apply is evident even in trying to refute the lower court's assertion, demonstrating yet again how inappropriately suited for the facts of the case at bar the Division II standard is.

⁴ There, this Court held that the "[H]istory shows the interest is one not entitled to protection." *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn. 2d at 523; *See also State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003) (holding that an arrestee has no reasonable expectation of privacy in personal items once they have been viewed by state officials during a valid inventory search).

Puapuaga, the court never reached the arguments regarding privacy expectations, but rather stated that "[c]ontrary to Puapuaga's contention, the private affairs inquiry in this case is resolved by reviewing historical treatment of the privacy interest asserted." *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn. 2d at 523. The history was dispositive in that case, as it should have been here. The Court of Appeals departed from *Puapuaga*'s test, and substituted its own.

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