RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 05, 201**8,4**:**4**7 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 95262-1

THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOC. et al., Respondents/Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al., Respondents/Defendants,

and

FREEDOM FOUNDATION, Petitioner/Respondent/Defendant.

RESPONDENT UNIONS' ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Kathleen P. Barnard, WSBA #17896 Kristina M. Detwiler, WSBA #26448 Laura Ewan, WSBA # 45201 Kristen L. Kussmann, WSBA #30638 Edward Earl Younglove III, WSBA #5873

Counsel for Respondents/Appellants/Plaintiffs

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT OR OTHER APPELLATE DECISIONS.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied precedent on both the statutory and constitutional issues, and its decision does not conflict with other decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(2).

- 1. The Court Properly Applied Existing Precedent Regarding the Interests Protected by Article I, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution.
 - a. Article I, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution protects private interests from disruption by the State.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." To determine whether an individual is entitled to this constitutional protection for certain information, the courts utilize a two-step process. *SEIU 925 v. Freedom Foundation*, 197 Wn. App. 203, 222, 389 P.3d 641 (2016) (citing *State v. Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d 515, 522, 192 P.3d 360 (2008)). First, the court must determine whether the action

constitutes a disturbance of one's "private affairs." *State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 641-42, 81 P.3d 830 (2003). If a privacy interest has been disturbed, the second step in the court's analysis asks whether authority of law justifies the intrusion. *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d at 522.

Applying this established test, the Court of Appeals found that employees' full names associated with their birthdates is information reasonably expected to be private, and protected by article I, section 7 from involuntary disclosure by the State because such disclosure carries the "ongoing risk of identity theft and other potential personal harms." WPEA et al., 404 P.3d at 118.

b. The Court of Appeals, consistent with precedent and other appellate decisions, correctly held that a privacy interest existed in preventing involuntary disclosure of employees' names associated with their birthdates.

The Foundation repeatedly cites one phrase from *Nissen v. Pierce Cty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 883, 357 P.3d 45 (2015), to support its radical position that "[a]ny *constitutional* privacy interest ends at the point at which information becomes a public record." Petition at 10. The Foundation contends that this phrase—"an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a *public* record"—is binding precedent requiring disclosure of the employees' names linked to their birthdates simply because that information is contained in State-held documents. Petition at

1, 5, 8, 9, 10 (citing *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883 (emphasis in original)). However, the Court of Appeals properly interpreted that phrase, recognizing the context and issues presented in *Nissen*, and noted that the phrase was *dictum*. *WPEA* et al., 404 P.3d at 117 ("the court's statement in *Nissen* was made within the context of rejecting the county's claim that article I, section 7 categorically prohibited searching a government employee's private devices for public records," not in regard to whether any particular document or information must be disclosed).

Moreover, dictum or not, the phrase does not supply the precedent the Foundation contends it does—a categorical declaration that the constitutional protection of privacy interests does not apply to any information contained in a document in possession of a Washington State governmental entity, simply because it is held by the government—as the Nissen court itself explained. Significantly, the Nissen Court did not reach the question of whether any public record at issue in that case contained information that might be protected by article I, section 7. Indeed, the Court ordered that, once public records on the government official's phone were identified, those records should be vetted for applicable exemptions.²

² The Court directed that "... on remand Lindquist must obtain a transcript of the content of all the text messages at issue, review them, and produce to the County any that are public records consistent with our opinion. The County must then review those messages—just as it would any other public record—and apply any applicable

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this established individualized approach to determine whether information contained in a public record should be disclosed:

We read the statement on which the Foundation relies as a statement that there is no *categorical* constitutional protection related to a public records request; consequently, there can be no *categorical* prohibition to claiming an expectation of privacy in information contained within public records. Because we perform an individualized analysis of the information requested in this case, our decision does not create a categorical constitutional protection and, therefore, it is not in conflict with our Supreme Court's opinion in *Nissen*.

Id. (emphasis in original).

Nor does the decision below conflict, as the Foundation contends, with *West v. Vermillion*, 196 Wn. App. 627, 384 P.3d 634 (2016), *cert. denied*, 138 S.Ct. 202, 199 L. Ed. 2d 115 (2017). *West* simply held, in the same context as *Nissen*, that individual documents contained on a private device belonging to a government employee could be public records which must be reviewed before deciding whether those documents should be protected from disclosure. *Id.* at 339 ("[T]he record before us does not contain information upon which we can determine whether e-mails contained in Vermillion's personal e-mail account could be subject to First Amendment protections, let alone if they are public records.").

exemptions, redact information if necessary, and produce the records and any exemption log to Nissen." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 888.

Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review - 7

c. The determination that a privacy interest inheres in involuntary disclosure of names paired with birthdates is consistent with precedent and other decisions.

The Foundation asserts that there are grounds for review because the Court of Appeals decision departs from precedent concerning the test for whether information is properly considered to be "private affairs" protected by article I, section 7. First, as described above, it incorrectly argues that no test should be applied because the contested information is contained in a document in possession of the State, and therefore is categorically not protected.

Next, it contends that the Court of Appeals should not have applied³, or misapplied, this Court's test, under *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d at 522, to determine whether a privacy interest grounded in personal affairs is constitutionally protected such that a PRA request is not allowed to reach that private information. Because *Puapuaga* involved a search of a criminal suspect and did not involve State disclosure of information, the Foundation takes issue with the Court of Appeals' use of that test. Petition at 12, 17. The Foundation fails to comprehend that there is State action not just when the State is obtaining information, but also when it is disclosing

³ The Foundation argues that *Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 937 P.2d 154, *amended*, 943 P.2d 1358 (1997), supplies the correct test, but that case did not address whether information is protected as "private affairs;" it simply held that, in the context of that case, the reach of article I, section 7 was no greater that the privacy protections under the United States Constitution. *Id.*, 123–24.

information it has obtained. Petition at 11, n. 2. In fact, the Foundation's objection to the use of the *Puapuaga* test is an objection to the application of article I, section 7 to the PRA at all. Petition at 17 ("As previously stated, Article I § 7 cannot naturally interact with the PRA because it limits government *searches*, not instances where the information is a government record within the government's possession."). This, of course, is not the law, as the *Nissen* Court noted. 183 Wn.2d 863 at 884, 357 P.3d 45 ("Of course, the public's statutory right to public records does not extinguish an individual's constitutional rights in private information.").4

The Foundation next contends that the Court of Appeals misapplied the *Puapuaga* test, arguing that the Court failed to address the test in sequence and should have ended its analysis by finding that the specific individuals' names paired with their birthdates is information that

⁴ The Court of Appeals' holding also does not conflict with *Bedford*, 112 Wn.2d 500, 772 P.2d 486 (1989). *Bedford* does *not* stand for the proposition the Foundation claims it does ("Article I §7 cannot naturally interact with the PRA because it limits government *searches*, not instances where the information is a government record within the government's possession."). Petition at 3 n. 3, 17. Instead, there, the Court specifically noted that "[w]e have not, however, previously undertaken a careful consideration of the extent to which this provision [article I, section 7] guarantees a more general right of privacy. And we decline to do so now, in the absence of particularized briefing on the question." 112 Wn.2d at 506. *Bedford* examined the constitutionality of a program requiring indigent alcoholics and drug addicts to move into designated shelters to receive benefits, made no mention of the PRA, and explicitly did not address general right-to-privacy interests. Furthermore, in addressing federal constitutional rights to privacy (which are generally *less* expansive than those under the Washington state constitution), *Bedford* found the constitutional right of privacy includes "the individual interest in avoiding disclosure of personal matters." 112 Wn.2d at 509.

has not been historically recognized as private.⁵ Petition at 12-15. In support of this argument it cites *SEIU 925*, 197 Wn. App. 203, which held that the release of the names and work contact information of quasi-public employees does not violate article I, section 7, and erroneously contends that the Court in that case ended its analysis by holding that, because the information sought was not historically protected, there was no constitutionally protected privacy interest. Petition at 12. The *SEIU 925* Court found that the parties had offered no argument that "historical treatment of a person's name and contact information [constituted] private affairs under article I, section 7," and therefore "consider[ed] the historical treatment factor no further." *SEIU 925*, 197 Wn. App. at 223.

However, significantly, the Court did not end its analysis there; it turned next to the second prong of the *Puapuaga* "private affairs" test and considered whether the home care providers represented by SEIU 925 were nonetheless entitled to hold an expectation of privacy in their contact information.⁶ Thus, the Foundation simply is wrong in contending that if

⁵ If there is no evidence of historical protection, the court nevertheless asks whether the expectation is one that a citizen of the State of Washington is entitled to hold. *Puapuaga*, 164 Wn.2d at 522. "This part of the inquiry includes a look into the nature and extent of the information that may be obtained as a result of the governmental conduct and the extent to which the information has been voluntarily exposed to the public." *Id.*

⁶ Additionally, although the Court held there was no constitutionally protected right to avoid disclosure of work contact information, that holding does *not* conflict with the Court of Appeals' holding here. Here, the association of birth dates with names raises different privacy interests in avoiding ongoing identity theft and related financial harm.

the historical protection is not established there can be no protection under the second prong of the "private affairs" test, and simply wrong in citing *SEIU 925* as grounds for discretionary review.

Here, the Court of Appeals did address the first prong of the Puapuaga test by noting that there had been no argument by the Unions that, historically, this information had been protected, before turning to the second prong of the test. In examining whether the union-represented employees were entitled to an expectation of privacy protecting their names paired with their birthdates from disclosure, the Court reviewed the context in which that information has been provided and concluded that, historically, an individual controlled when to voluntarily provide that paired information to another. WPEA et al., 404 P.3d at 116 ("[P]eople do expose their names and corresponding birthdates to some extent. However, these disclosures are typically at the person's discretion and control."). Moreover, at issue here is involuntary disclosure, which is something different: "Public disclosure of state employees' full names associated with their corresponding birthdates reveals personal and discrete details of the employees' lives. Such disclosure to the public would not be voluntary or within the employee's control." Id. The Court therefore correctly applied Puapuaga, and held that article I, section 7 protected the employees' privacy interest from that type of involuntary disclosure by the State. Id.

Finally, the Foundation ignores the sentence immediately preceding this holding, and contends that the Court based its ruling on subjective beliefs of employees, not on an objective standard. Petition at 6, 13. The Court clearly ruled that, as a matter of law, based on an objective standard, that:

A citizen of this state would *reasonably* expect that personal information, such as the public disclosure of his or her full name associated with his or her corresponding birthdate, that would potentially subject them to identity theft and other harms, would remain private. Therefore, we hold that, under article 1, section 7, a state employee is entitled to an expectation of privacy in his or her full name associated with his or her corresponding birthdate.

WPEA et al., 404 P.3d at 116 (emphasis added). Consideration of what a citizen would reasonably expect inherently indicates use of an objective standard. See Peters v. Vinatieri, 102 Wn. App. 641, 651, 9 P.3d 909, 914 (2000) ("society must recognize that expectation [of privacy] as reasonable," which is an "objective requirement") (citations omitted).

d. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the PRA was not "authority of law" sufficient to justify invasion of employees' privacy interests.

Having found that the employees have a privacy interest in protecting against State disclosure of their names paired with their birthdates, the Court of Appeals examined whether, nonetheless, that interest could be disturbed because there was "authority of law" to do so,

as provided in article I, section 7. Rejecting the Foundation's argument that the PRA was such "authority of law," the Court held that "though the PRA may allow the disclosure of the information, the PRA does not justify the intrusion into the state employees' constitutionally protected expectation of privacy in their full names associated with their corresponding birthdates." WPEA et al., 404 P.3d at 117.

The Court of Appeals found that the purpose of the PRA would *not* be served by releasing this information, which would reveal personal details of state employees unrelated to their roles as public servants, and that therefore the PRA did not "justify" intrusion into their constitutionally protected privacy interest. *Id.* The Court acknowledged that "[n]o court has addressed when the PRA would *justify*, rather than allow, an intrusion into a constitutionally protected privacy interest." *WPEA et al.*, 404 P.3d at 117 (emphasis in original). The Court examined the dictionary definition of "justify"—"to prove or show to be valid, sound, or conforming to fact or reason" and "to show to have had a sufficient legal reason,"—and found that this requires *more* than a showing that intrusion is permitted. *Id.*

The Court noted that the PRA's purpose is not served by disclosure of employees' dates of birth associated with their names, because such disclosure "does not inform the people of facts about an 'instrument' they

have created or provide information that allows the people to maintain control over those instruments." *Id.* Thus, the Court held that "the PRA does not justify the intrusion into the state employees' constitutionally protected expectation of privacy in their full names associated with their corresponding birthdates." *Id.*

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